

Developing an effective logistics strategy for small company in furniture industry

Ekaterina Pozdniakova

Bachelor's thesis May 2023 Degree Programme in Purchasing and Logistics Engineering

jamk I Jyväskylän ammattikorkeakoulu University of Applied Sciences



Pozdniakova, Ekaterina

Developing an effective logistics strategy for small company in furniture industry

Jyväskylä: Jamk University of Applied Sciences, April 2023, 61 pages.

Degree Programme in Purchasing and Logistics Engineering. Bachelor's thesis.

Permission for open access publication: Yes

Language of publication: English

Abstract

The aim of this paper was to develop an effective logistics strategy for a small enterprise in the furniture industry. This study examined the current logistics practices within enterprises, identified problems and analyzed key components of an effective logistics strategy.

A literature review was conducted, and qualitative method were used to gather data.

Based on the findings of the study, a better understanding of the challenges small companies face and the importance of developing an effective logistics strategy in order to improve operational efficiency was gained. The final result of this thesis was a formulated written logistics strategy. Moreover, the analysis of the economic impact for the company from the implementation of the offered strategy was conducted.

The results of this thesis can be used by small companies in the furniture industry to develop effective logistics strategies that can enhance their operational efficiency and competitive advantage.

Keywords/tags (subjects)

Logistics strategy, Small enterprises, Logistics.

Miscellaneous (Confidential information)

None

Contents

1	Introduction	3
1.1	Background	3
1.2	Objective, tasks, and construction of research questions	4
1.3	Research methods	5
1.4	Importance of the study	6
2	Teoretical foundations	7
2.1	The concept, essence, and classification of logistics strategies	7
2.2	Impact of logistics strategies on small businesses	16
2.3	Factors affecting the development of profitable logistics strategies	19
2	2.3.1 Models and methods of measuring the effectiveness of logistics activities	21
3	Practical development of an effective logistics strategy for Scandicum OY	25
3.1	Brief overview of Scandicum OY	25
3.2	Types of qualitative interviews	29
3.3	Conducting interview	32
3	B.3.1 Building of interview questions	33
3.4	Research results	37
3.5	Project for an effective logistics strategy for Scandicum OY	39
3.6	Economic impact of implementing a logistics strategy	44
4	Discussion	48
4.1	Proposals for development	49
5	Conclusion	50
5.1	Reliability and Ethics review	51
5.2	Suggestion for future	51
6	References	53
Appe	endices	59
Арр	pendix 1. Title of the Appendix	59

Figures

Figure 1. Scandicum's feedback form.	.4
Figure 2. Corporate strategy, mission, and objectives in relation to logistics strategy	.9
Figure 4. Model of the mechanism for increasing the efficiency of an organization's logistics activities.	24
Figure 5. The development of logistics strategy and planning	39

Figure 6. An algorithm for building a logistics system.	40
Figure 7. Scandicum OY's core business processes.	41
Figure 8. Scandicum OY's financial and economic model	43
Figure 9. Main company's units.	44

Tables

Table 1. A comparative analysis of logistics strategies.	.13
Table 2. Main directions of increase of efficiency of logistics activity.	.21
Table 3. Systematization of methods for improving logistics efficiency.	.22
Table 4. Advantages and disadvantages of each type of interview.	.31
Table 5. Interview data	.35
Table 6. The number of enterprises surveyed.	.36
Table 7. The analysis of interview data	. 38
Table 8. APQC PCF Framework	.41
Table 9. An analysis of the organization's processes in relation to the model of processes	.42
Table 10. A relationship between the volume of revenue and the quantity of products sold a their price. Data received from Scandicum report.	and .45

1 Introduction

The furniture industry is experiencing a rapid growth and increasing competition, and the growth in furniture production and consumption in Europe as a whole has reached record levels. Moreover, the furniture market is expected to grow annually by 5.7% (CAGR) from 2022 to 2030 (Furniture Market Size, Share & Trends Analysis Report, 2022). All this indicates that in the short-term furniture will remain one of the fastest growing segments of the consumer market.

On the other hand, the furniture market has changed considerably over the past few years. Due to the global economic downturn, many companies, including those in the furniture industry, have been forced to significantly reduce their presence in the market. There have been a number of factors contributing to this, including the emergence of new players in the industry, the emergence of new opportunities for development, and the changing nature of market conditions (Bullard, 2002). Consequently, many players left the market, while others were forced to rethink their strategies and business approaches.

As realities change rapidly, producers and sellers are forced to adjust their development strategies almost immediately. The market is therefore experiencing new directions, which in a number of indicators are significantly exceeding the previous trends. It is becoming more common for new products to enter the market that have never existed before.

1.1 Background

Scandicum OY is a wholesale supplier of furniture and interior decorations from Scandinavian countries to Eastern Europe and Asia. To maintain a competitive position in the market, a company should constantly review consumer preferences and their expectations of high-quality products. In this regard, Scandicum started conducting surveys among its customers last September by using customer feedback forms and social media listening. The figure below provides a general overview of the feedback form:



Figure 1. Scandicum's feedback form.

According to the results of the first wave of research, more than half of the respondents were satisfied with the quality of the furniture produced by Scandicum. However, according to customers, the company still has reserves, which can lead to an increase in sales.

Taking into account consumers' preferences, the company decided to open a new business line retail shop of interior accessories produced at Scandinavian factories. Small store located in the center of Helsinki display medium and high-priced products under the outlet format. In addition, the company plans to establish an online store where these products can be ordered.

1.2 Objective, tasks, and construction of research questions

The purpose of this work is to develop an effective logistics strategy for small enterprise of the furniture industry. In order to achieve this objective, the following steps should be taken:

- Analyze the current logistics practices used by small businesses and identify the gaps in their logistics operations;
- Develop a logistics strategy that is efficient and effective for the small company Scandium to improve its logistical efficiency.

Moreover, there are multitude aspects which should be considered to develop an efficient strategy for the successful functioning of the business. Since small enterprises frequently have little financial capacity and limited resources, their strategy should be most effective in order to achieve better results, increase customer satisfaction as well as company value.

Based on this, the main research questions were built as following:

What are the current logistics strategies in the small companies?

Objective: The knowledge gained from this understanding can be used to identify areas for improvement, provide insights on industry best practices, and provide guidance on decision-making processes for small companies seeking to optimize their logistics functions.

What are the challenges faced by small companies regarding logistics operations?

Objective: Small companies face distinct types of obstacles, and possible solutions will be developed based on the research.

What are the key components of an effective logistics strategy for small enterprises?

Objective: The most beneficial methods applicable for the case study company will be explored. Finally, the unique logistics strategy for the company will be developed and the recommendations for further usage will be provided.

1.3 Research methods

The research aims to find new knowledge and insights by systematically investigating and analyzing a topic through a structured approach. To guide the research work, a research-based development approach has been selected.

The goal of research-based development is to provide practical solutions to problems and to accomplish development tasks using research methods. Therefore, an effective logistics strategy for a small business can be developed by using the research-based development method.

Furthermore, the study include:

Literature review: It was necessary to review a comprehensive literature review to examine current logistics practices and identify gaps in the logistics operations. The review includes scientific journals, books and relevant industry reports.

Case study: There have been several case studies conducted to collect primary data on the logistical problems faced by small firms. The case studies included interviews with key employees of small businesses.

Consequently, through the application of literature review and case study, this method is able to provide insights into most effective logistics strategies of small businesses.

1.4 Importance of the study

Almost all small businesses utilize logistics in their business practices because it allows them to effectively allocate and utilize resources. Small businesses, in contrast to large corporations, are able to rapidly adapt to changing market conditions, move their resources to the most efficient regions and industries, and develop new products or technologies in a timely manner (Annacchino, 2003).

Across a wide array of organizations, the improvement of logistics operations is a common topic of discussion. It is because organizations must focus on both logistics management as well as improving logistics operations in the context of rapidly changing external and internal factors (Cherchata, 2022). Future, in this paper those factors will be considered more closely. Therefore, there is a need for a logistics development strategy, namely identifying the main directions for its improvement.

An important aspect of forming logistics strategies for small businesses is determining the efficiency of logistics activities. To resolve this problem, identifying the strengths and weaknesses of the enterprise's logistics system, as well as its efficiency as it applies to utilizing resources for production, is essential. It enables an enterprise to efficiently utilize all its resources and to distribute goods, services, finances, and labor resources between the various parts of the enterprise in a rational and efficient manner. In addition, logistics efficiency has been the subject of extensive research with regards to its essence and content. It should, however, be noted that the methodology for evaluating the efficiency of logistics systems is not well developed. In this regard, the need to study modern methods of evaluating the efficiency and optimizing logistics processes takes place.

2 Teoretical foundations

Based on a literature review, this study examines logistics strategies, their classifications, and how they are implemented within an organization. Moreover, there will be considered a variety of factors tied to the development of profitable strategy. The literature review consists mainly of logistics operations and management, logistics activities and business literature, and it serves as a theoretical foundation for case study.

2.1 The concept, essence, and classification of logistics strategies

Based on Alfred Chandler's (1969) definition of strategy, strategy refers to setting the long-term objectives of an organization, and then adopting a course of action and allocating resources towards their realization. Jeremy B. Quinn (1990), however, defines strategy as the integration of a firm's main goals, policies, and activities. It is critical to recognize that the process of strategic management, as well as the definition of strategy, are not based on a single perspective.

By extending the concept of strategy, a logistics strategy can be derived. Thus, according to Harrison (2019), there are guiding principles, driving forces, and ingrained attitudes associated with a logistics strategy. These contribute to the coordination of goals, plans, and policies, and they are supported by conscious and unconscious behaviors fostered within and among the supply chain partners.

Strategy provides an organization with the ability to determine how to develop and utilize key resources to achieve its desired goals in a dynamic and challenging competitive environment (Fawcett, 1997). In addition, according to other researchers, a logistics strategy (especially one incorporating several innovative provisions) is an ideal tool for optimizing the resources and business processes of a companies. Besides, competitive advantage can be gained by companies with an effective logistics strategy. (Brewer, 2008). A logistics strategy is an expression of the strategic management of an enterprise's logistics activities (SteadieSeifi, 2011). Farahani in his book "Logistics Operations and Management" (2011) says that a strategic decision is made with the objective of optimizing the following three main objectives:

- Reduction of capital expenses (investment levels, which are dependent on owned equipment and investors)
- Reduction of costs (costs associated with transportation and storage)
- Improvement in the quality of service (customer satisfaction and order turnaround time)

Taken together, these points suggest that logistics strategy establishes a link between the objectives, capabilities, and resources of a company on the one hand, and the market realities on the other. Therefore, the provisions of the logistics strategy are subordinated to the overall strategy of the company, which defines the main directions and priorities of the logistics activities.

To be able to make a contribution on how to build a logistics system, one first has to identity the components and factors in the system. One implication of Bondar' (2019) work could be that the process of developing a logistics strategy includes:

- 1) An overview of the general objectives of the enterprise's material flow management system;
- 2) An analysis of the main directions in which the system is likely to develop;
- 3) Design of options for optimizing material flow for selected resources and products;
- 4) Allocating materials among products and activities in the most efficient manner.

As a result, depending on the degree of detail of the solution of the listed tasks, the process of forming the logistics system may take the following form:

- Identification and analysis of market and production requirements;
- Identifying objectives and selecting rational methods for achieving them;
- Assessment of the effectiveness of the objectives;

• Determining the composition, structure, parameters, and interrelationships of each logistics subsystem.

Once the demands, needs, and possibilities have been determined, they can be systematized and estimated. It follows that the logistics system is comprised of a number of management activities, including planning, supply, marketing, organizing material flow, accounting, and control.

Sergeev (2015) has considered that the logistics strategy defines the development of logistics for a certain period of time, which allows to manage logistics processes within the implementation of the strategy. It identifies the role of logistics within the overall enterprise management system, as well as its goals, tasks, and principles of operation.

Thus, Figure 2 illustrates the direction in which the logistics strategy of an enterprise is aligned with the corporate strategy, mission, and goals from which the logistics objectives are derived (Rakyta, 2022):



Figure 2. Corporate strategy, mission, and objectives in relation to logistics strategy.

Therefore, the logistics strategy can be presented as a plan, including (1) an analysis of the current situation and the objectives of the organization, (2) the organization of production and distribution activities, and (3) the organizational structures that will be used to implement it.

Nevertheless, a strategy is not simply the sum of certain elements and procedures, but as well a system of values, principles, and beliefs. As part of the logistics strategy of the enterprise, the general trends in the development of the industry, market conditions, as well as the production and marketing characteristics should be considered (Farahani, 2011).

Through the allocation and classification of logistic functions, small enterprises are able to decompose the management of their own logistics operations. By decomposing logistics functions, it is possible to identify the most critical functions, which require special attention from management (Basu, 2003). Using this approach, the current level of logistics management, as well as the areas that require improvement can be determined.

As a result of this process, logistics services are formed, which are necessary links in the logistics chain of the enterprise and its subdivisions. In this case, Unsihuay-Vila (2010) has considered the main functional areas of logistics are:

- 1. Storage, warehousing, and material handling
- 2. Packaging and unitization
- 3. Inventory
- 4. Transport
- 5. Information and control

Essentially, logistics strategy involves all the decisions, techniques, plans, and cultural aspects of supply chain management that will guide the implementation of an organization's overall strategy. However, a methodology for formulating a strategy and an explanation of each step in the process is not provided in the literature. Almost every organization develops its business based on a corporate strategy that enables it to achieve long-term objectives.

Throughout this paper, various types of company strategies, beginning with corporate strategies, followed by logistics strategies, and eventually more common strategies will be examined.

Regarding the corporate-level strategies, Shrivastava (1985) has considered 4 main strategies:

1. Stability Strategy

Organizations adopt it when they seek to improve their functional efficiency. Further classified as follows: (i) No change strategy, (ii) Profit strategy, and (iii) Pause/Proceed with caution strategy.

2. Growth/Expansion Strategy

Growth strategy purpose is to increase the size of the organization and to develop and implement a strategy which will enable the company to become a large and successful player in the market. Organization operates through (i) Concentration, (ii) Integration, (iii) Diversification, (iv) Cooperation, and (v) Internationalization.

3. Retrenchment Strategy

Retrenchment is used when a company seeks to reduce excessive expenses by reducing some of its products or activities. The process involves turnaround, divestment, and liquidation in the following three modes: (i) Compulsory winding up, (ii) Voluntary winding up, and (iii) Winding up under court supervision.

4. Combination/Mixed Strategy

Combined strategies include a strategy designed to combine different marketing tools. In addition, the strategy of a marketing combination can be cited as an example, in which the firm strives to achieve maximum results by combining advertising, marketing, and personal selling.

Additionally, companies utilize the "differentiated approach" to select one or more strategies and to develop appropriate schemes of resource management, material flow and information flow, as well as to select and implement logistics operations based on them.

The classification of logistical strategies has been attempted in several ways. Among the large number of logistics strategies applied by enterprises, it is possible to distinguish basic and additional strategies. According to "Common Logistics Strategies" report (Sergeev, 2015), for example,

the core strategies include the following: lean strategy; dynamic strategy and strategy based on strategic alliances.

1. Lean Strategy

The lean strategy seeks to identify and eliminate unproductive use of inventory, equipment and time. A typical approach to this strategy is to analyze the logistics operations performed and avoid operations that do not add value to customers; remove unnecessary links from the supply chain; and select suppliers that are closer to customers to reduce transport costs. A sustainable external environment is needed to implement the lean strategy.

2. Dynamic Strategy

A dynamic strategy, on the other hand, is used in an uncertain external environment. The goal of this strategy is to offer high quality customer service by reacting quickly to the emergence of new or changing previous customer requirements. Organizations using a dynamic strategy focus on customers and allow for additional costs to meet unplanned customer needs.

3. Strategic Alliances

Strategic alliances with suppliers and customers. The objective of this strategy is to increase supply chain efficiency. The reasons for using this strategy are to strive for better customer service and to reduce costs. Partnerships can be formed between production, trade and transport organizations.

Based on literature review by such authors as McKinnon (2008), Wilding (1996), Cooper (1993), Gruchmann (2019), Bowersox (1996), and Durach (2010) other common strategies that focus on more specific aspects of their operations include the following:

- A differentiation strategy
- A time-based strategy
- Strategy based on environmental protection
- Increased productivity strategy
- Value-added strategy

- Diversification or specialization strategy
- A focus strategy
- Growth strategy

Next, the strategies that are most common in the manufacturing, furniture and production industry were chosen. Based on several criteria, a comparative analysis of the characteristics of these strategies is conducted in the Table 1:

Criterion	Time-based	Increased	Strategies	Lean strat-	Dynamic	Strategic
	strategies	productivity	based on envi-	egy	strategy	Alliances
		strategies	ronmental			
			protection			
Aim	Reduce unnec- essary lead times in the supply chain to ensure fast delivery of products	Increasing the effi- ciency of the integrated supply chain	Optimizing the company's lo- gistics opera- tions in order to reduce its environmental impact	Efficient op- erations from the point of view of minimiza- tion of re- sources, waste of pro- duction, time of fulfillment of orders and reserves	Ensure high quality cus- tomer ser- vice, re- spond quickly to new or changed conditions	Improve in- tegrated supply chain effi- ciency
Method	Eliminate un- necessary time in the supply chain, i.e. those during which value is not added to the product. Standardiza- tion and auto- mation of lo- gistics operations to improve effi- ciency and productivity	Search for al- ternatives to the most ef- fective use of idle produc- tion facilities, areas, vehi- cles (leasing, provision of services to other organi- zations, etc.)	Production of goods using natural ingre- dients, use of reversible packaging, production of goods that do not require special recy- cling, reuse of materials, re- duction of noise and harmful emis- sions, fuel	Disposal of all unproduc- tive areas, search for opportuni- ties to elimi- nate waste of all types of resources	Maximum flexibility, user- friendly ac- cess, part- nership ap- proach to customers, long-term mainte- nance of contacts with cur- rent and potential customers,	Wide use of ad- vanced electronic data inter- change techniques in logistics infor- mation sys- tems
	productivity		economy		partners	

Table 1. A comparative analysis of logistics strategies.

Limitatia	Cimplicity of	Limited on	Elimination of	Flimination	Lligh Joyol	Conflicts in
Limitatio	Simplicity of	Limited op-	Elimination of	Elimination	High level	
ns	operations	portunities	environmen-	of inefficient	of expendi-	the supply
		of scientific	tally harmful	operations,	ture	chain are
		and techno-	operations	basic quality		possible
		logical pro-		of service.		
		gress		Strategy may		
				not work un-		
				der too dy-		
				namic or un-		
				certain		
				conditions		
Dynamic	Low	Polativoly	Low		Dynamic	Logistics
Dynamic	LOW	high	LOW	ctability		Logistics
01		IIIgII		stability	response to	
cnanges					changing	can be
					circum-	made
					stances and	quickly
					customer	
					demands	
Parametr	Execute oper-	Efficiencies	Reducing the	Productivity,	Lead time,	Productivit
S	ations simulta-	of logistics	amount of	comprehen-	service	у,
	neously in-	chain sec-	harmful sub-	siveness of	level, cus-	comprehen
	stead of	tions, indi-	stances emit-	use, cost	tomer sat-	siveness of
	sequentially	vidual opera-	ted, the	value of all	isfaction	use
		tions, and	amount and	resources		
		mechanisms	growth of			
			waste decom-			
			nosition etc			
Nature of	Timely elimi-	Fluctuating	Focus on mini-	Unified	Δn	Stable
the	nation of bot-	activities in		standardised	exclusive	enough to
activitios	tlonocks and	ling with im	ronmontal im	standardised	exclusive,	
activities		me with m-			customer-	
	uninterrupted	proved logis-	pact while		onented	term plan-
	material flow	tics technol-	maintaining a			ning and at
		ogies	given level of			the same
			efficiency			time flexi-
						ble
Manage	Integration -	Based on cal-	Involvement	It is carried	Less struc-	Manageme
ment	improved	culation of	of environ-	out within	tured and	nt
	management	efficiency of	mental spe-	formalized	performed	optimizatio
	of material	logistics	cialists in the	planning cy-	by staff	n is useed
	and related	functions	management	cles. Produc-	with the	
	flows	and opera-	apparatus	tion occurs	necessary	
		tions		only on the	authority.	
				basis of the	, Control is	
				request of	more	
				consumers	localized	
				(«nulling»)	loculized	
				(«puillig»).		
				based off the		
				principle of		
				cost		
				management		
Advanteg	Reduced time	Possibility of	Creating a pos-	Save re-	Opportuni-	Opportuni-
es	to fulfill cus-	rapid expan-	itive image of	sources	ties for	ties to re-
1	tomer orders,	1	1		long-term	duce costs,

increased	sion of activ-	the organiza-	(people, ef-	coopera-	avoid in-
turnover	ity, diversifi-	tion	fort, places,	tion, repeat	vestments
	cation of		time) up to	deals and	in build-
	production		50%	positive	ings, bene-
	at reserve			recommen-	fit from
	capacity			dations	long-term
					coopera-
					tion

However, this classification is highly generalized. The tables show that each type of logistics strategy considered has some advantages on the one hand and limitations on the other. Their selection by a particular company should relate to the overall corporate strategy of the organization, private business strategies for each type of its business and the logistics function implemented in the organization.

In essence, a logistics strategy is an action plan to achieve the strategic objectives set. Thus, the logistics strategy in an enterprise is formed in parallel with the corporate strategy. Errors in the choice of logistics strategy lead to a disruption in the flow of material through the company.

According to the analysis and Scandicum's individual characteristics, increased productivity strategy and strategic alliances were selected as the company strives to reduce costs and improve customer service.

By streamlining processes, eliminating waste, and optimizing resource use, an increased productivity strategy can improve the efficiency and effectiveness of the company's operations. Consequently, the company is able to produce more goods and services with the same resources or to produce the same amount with fewer resources, which results in cost savings.

At the same time, by forming strategic alliances, companies collaborate with each other to achieve shared objectives, such as improving products or services, expanding the market, or reducing costs through joint procurement. As a result of forming strategic alliances with other companies in the industry, Scandicum is able to benefit from economies of scale, gain access to new markets and customers, and develop new skills and knowledge. In turn, this can increase profitability and competitiveness in the marketplace.

2.2 Impact of logistics strategies on small businesses

In spite of the fact that logistics is widely recognized as a relatively new sector of the economy, it is experiencing rapid growth due to the necessity of close and effective links between producers and consumers. As a result, logistics becomes the primary tool for maximizing resource efficiency, providing the necessary products at the right time, reducing costs, and improving the overall efficiency of individuals and businesses.

Modern day logistic management has become not only an indispensable part of business, but also a critical factor for the success of a company in the marketplace. Furthermore, logistics plays a crucial role in achieving the enterprise's strategic goals, including optimizing materials flows, minimizing costs, reducing product delivery time, and minimizing risks (Buyukozkan, 2008).

Various logistics activities are performed at different levels of management, from the acquisition and supply of raw materials to transportation, warehousing, and the sale of finished products. Moreover, Savina, Dusheiko and Rozova in thei work (2021) note it is important to note that logistics is a system for managing the flow of materials and information within an enterprise as well as within the external environment.

The field of economics and management describes logistics as a scientific discipline devoted to solving issues related to the optimal movement of all types of flows (informational, material, and financial) and resources (Gourdin, 2001).

According to Mentzer (2004) the aim of every logistics strategy is to change the size of certain indicators. In essence, a logistics system is a set of mechanisms that can change the size of a product at all stages of its movement. Such system is characterized by the following indicators:

- Amount (the number of resources that need to be realized to achieve the goal);
- The level of costs (the value of the logistics system);

• Efficiency (result-cost relationships).

In this way, the economic stability of the company is increased by implementing a logistics strategy. One of the most important elements of the overall strategy of the company is its logistics strategy aimed at increasing the efficiency of the material flow management system. Using this approach, suppliers are selected, and resources are allocated based on the optimal route of delivery.

The scientific community is of the opinion that logistics can be used very effectively in order to reduce and optimize an enterprise's variable costs (Panayides, 2004). The majority of companies, however, are unaware that they cannot succeed without the right logistics strategy and a clear management of logistics activities. Therefore, knowledge of how to develop such system and manage it is fundamental. The Russian researcher Gadzhinsky, for example, considers logistics to be a scientific field related directly to improving material flow efficiency (Gadzhinsky, 1999).

In addition, logistics can be regarded as one of the essential strategic factors for achieving enterprise objectives and gaining a competitive advantage (Olavarrieta & Ellinger, 1997). Chobanova (2015), for example, believes that the upstream segment of a value chain plays a significant role in determining competitiveness in the furniture industry, as do raw materials and components, skilled labor availability, investment in technology, research and development, innovation and design, and policies that affect the furniture industry.

Considering the impact of logistics on the organization's activities through the sphere of material flow transportation is also an important consideration. In this case, logistic refers to the management of the material flow throughout the entire supply chain, from the primary raw material source to the end customer. In this way, Johnson (1999) argues that logistics refers to the planning, implementation, and control of materials, goods, services, information, energy, humans, and other resources moving into, through, and out of a firm (both in the public and private sectors) to meet customer demands. It involves planning, implementing, and controlling the flow, storage, and transportation of these resources.

Thus, by implementing logistics management principles, variable costs can be reduced by lowering the production cost of logistics. Reduced variable costs can be achieved through the alteration of the range structure, the optimization of product range, and the reduction of purchase volumes (Lambert, 1993). Considering all these factors have the potential to reduce variable costs, the choice of which is the most effective depends on the characteristics of the enterprise, its potential, and the market conditions.

As the result, this makes it possible to reduce the total cost of production and thus increase its competitiveness in the market. However, optimal cost management requires taking into account not only changes in volume and structure of production costs, but also changes in their ratios (Hansen, 2021).

As a result of the introduction of logistics the production process becomes more accurate and its quality improves, which increases the competitiveness of the company. At the same time, production and sales of goods are increased, production costs are reduced and the efficiency of the enterprise is increased. Therefore, logistics is currently an essential component of enterprise activities.

Moreover, the choice of a specific logistics strategy affects the quality of customer service. It is possible to increase customer satisfaction by reducing inventory levels and service times, for example. In this case, in terms of time and quality, just-in-time (JIT) and quick response (QR) concepts are the most prevalent. JIT assumes that goods will be delivered at certain intervals to predefined locations, where they will be stored until required. The stock of goods in the warehouse should be exactly the same as consumption (Stock, 2001).

Thus, by optimizing logistics costs and reducing delivery time, goods can be transported more efficiently. Additionally, in order to create a supply chain that meets the needs of the customer, logistics is essential. A company may thus implement whichever strategy it determines to be most effective.

To summarize, it is important for a modern enterprise to build an efficient logistics system that meets the requirements of the market and provides the organization with significant competitive

advantages. In order to build this system, it is necessary, first of all, to understand the logistical processes that take place in it. There is a need to analyze and assess the main logistical factors that affect company's effectiveness. It is critical to consider that logistics systems are a set of interconnected structures, processes, and tools that provide effective solutions to logistical problems. It can be defined as the set of interconnected elements that define its integrity, unity of purpose, and functions.

2.3 Factors affecting the development of profitable logistics strategies

Companies face increasing challenges in creating value and delivering it to their customers in today's highly competitive global market. Businesses are being forced to compete with their products on a global scale across dimensions of cost, quality, and service. Therefore, an efficient logistics system is becoming more and more essential. As a result of efficient logistics management, production and distribution processes are optimized, which greatly contributes to the goal of reducing costs and improving customer service. (Rushton, 2014)

There is a similar idea in the work of Dobák, who asserts that "efficiency is the capability of a company to realize its stated objectives, and to use its available resources cost-effectively." (Dobák, 2006, as cited in Markovits-Somogyi, 2010, pp.369). In other words, logistics system efficiency is defined as achieving the most results at the lowest possible cost.

In a competitive environment, where any enterprise wants to increase efficiency, and enter new markets, the logistics activity, as well as its efficacy, plays an important role in the work of the enterprise. According to Grigoriev & Dolgov (2014) efficiency of the logistics system of an enterprise is defined as the ratio of costs and results obtained in the process of delivery of goods to the consumer. Consequently, delivery costs (costs associated with transportation, loading and unloading operations, and storage of products) and the quantity of products not delivered are generally taken into consideration.

Moreover, it is crucial for a successful physical distribution of products as well as the smooth running of a business to evaluate the effectiveness of its logistics system. These issues were repeatedly considered by Mentezer et al. (2001), Sadraoui & Mchirgui (2014), Christopher (1999), Gadzhinsky (2012), etc. It should be noted that most researchers consider the efficiency of logistics activities in combination with production efficiency. Meanwhile, the effectiveness of logistics operations is the most essential indicator of the effectiveness of the entire logistics system from a logistics perspective. It should be noted, however, that the process for determining efficiency in manufacturing companies differs significantly from the process for determining efficiency in service companies.

Thus, it can be concluded that logistics activities are a set of economic, technical and organizational relations on creation, distribution and consumption of material goods, ensuring the optimal use of resources in the production process, distribution and consumption. SteadiSeifi (2011) notes that logistics activity within the enterprise is influenced by both external and internal factors.

To achieve organizational success and stability, modern management theories emphasize the importance of studying both the external and internal environment. Njoroge (2016) consider that a company's external environment consists of factors that are external to it and affect the efficiency of the organization. SteadiSeifi (2011) point out that the external environment consists of an analysis of the economic and political climates, and regulations, technological advancements, as well as the evaluation of primary competitors, especially in the service and logistics sector. According to Melecke (2013), when analyzing a company's competitiveness, external factors can help identify key issues and contribute to the development of enterprise's competitive advantages.

In the same way, an organization's internal environment consists of all those factors that are internal to the organization. Tang (1998, p. 301) believes that the internal environment "is typically characterized by its organizational structure, resources, climate, and culture". According to Pearce & Robinson (2000), the experiences of both large and small companies indicate that an understanding of the environment and the internal assessment of the company are essential to the development of a successful organization.

Thus, the internal and external environments influence each other. The external environment has a direct impact on the organization, and the internal environment is mediated. In order for a company to be successful, it must adjust to its external environment and improve its internal structure, which determines how threats and opportunities arise for the company, as well as how it responds to its external environment. It is therefore important that a company adapts to its external environment as well as improves its internal structure.

2.3.1 Models and methods of measuring the effectiveness of logistics activities

Currently, scientists in the field of logistics believe that there is no universal model that takes into account all variables, all nuances, and all circumstances when evaluating a logistics system. Profit, however, is one parameter that can tie the entire logistics system together. This parameter can be used to formulate possible improvements to logistics systems in different areas.

Moreover, Table 2 shows the main directions for improving logistics efficiency in various logistics areas such as inventory management, transportation, warehousing, packaging, purchasing and distribution.

Logistics field	Efficiency Direction
Inventory	Inventory costs should be optimized for the enterprise's entire produc-
management	tion system (Wood, 2002).
Transportation	Vehicles and transportation methods should be selected based on
	time, cost, reliability, and availability criteria (Gursoy, 2010).
Warehousing	Utilization of advanced information technologies and warehouse
	equipment (Huber, 1990).
Packaging	Optimizing packaging characteristics to facilitate ordering and reduce
	loading time (Parvini, 2011).
Purchasing	Enhancing procurement personnel's competence and professionalism,
	choosing an optimal order planning system (Dybskaya, 2021).
Distribution	Incorporating all functions of managing the distribution of finished
	products and services, starting from the definition of goals and ending
	with the control of all processes of goods distribution (Karaxha & Kristo,
	2016).

Table 2. Main directions of increase of efficiency of logistics activity.

Efficiencies can be improved through methods such as shorter lead times, enhanced productivity, more effective resource utilization, and decreased operational costs. The Table 2 illustrates main ways in which logistic systems can be improved to some extent, which are reflected in the various

foreign and Russian concepts of the enterprise's work. Through a systematic review of the scientific literature, methods for enhancing the efficiency of logistics operations in an organization were systematically analyzed and standardized.

Furthermore, it is important to recognize that efficiency is a significant economic category and a major indicator of any business's performance (Bacs, 2018), and it is being used by companies to evaluate the efficiency of their operations as well as their logistics processes. In order for a business venture to succeed, logistics processes must be as effective and efficient as possible. This is why it is necessary to measure and analyze the efficiency and effectiveness of logistics activities. Thus, the literature review indicates that the most common models for measuring logistics performance are as follows:

Method	Description	Application areas	Author/year
Automation in	Use of information systems like	Inventory manage-	(Andiyappillai,
logistics	GoFreight, SAP, Oracle, Netsctok,	ment, warehousing,	2021), (Allen,
	Salesforce Maps, Webgility, etc. The	cargo processing,	2014)
	use of these programmes makes it	procurement, dis-	
	possible to collect, store, process,	tribution.	
	display and disseminate information		
	in order to reduce the labour inten-		
	sity of the use of information re-		
	sources and to improve the reliability		
	and timeliness of their management		
	in a number of logistical processes.		
Cargo	Inclusion of two or more smaller in-	Transportation,	(Jacyna, 2013)
consolidation	stalments from one or more suppli-	Distribution	
	ers in a common large instalment.		
	Removing unnecessary transit traffic		
Cost minimization	The main objective is the minimiza-	Transportation,	(Yucekaya,
method	tion of total cost in transportation.	procurement,	2013)
	Reducing lead times for excess inven-	inventory	
	tory through supply consistency	management	
ABC-analysis	ABC analysis is also known as 'Selec-	Inventory manage-	(Gulati <i>,</i> 2021)
	tive Inventory Control'. In this tech-	ment, transporta-	
	nique, inventory is classified into	tion, warehousing,	
	three categories based on an item's	packaging, purchas-	
	value and usage rate.	ing, distribution.	
XYZ-analysis	The XYZ classification is a modifica-	Inventory manage-	(Bulinski,
	tion of ABC analysis. This analysis is a	ment, transporta-	2013)
	way to classify inventory items ac-	tion, warehousing,	

Table 3. Systematization of methods for improving logistics efficiency.

	cording to the variability of their de- mand or derived/forecasted con-	packaging, purchas- ing, distribution.	
Paroto	Baroto analysis supposes that 80% of	Inventory manage	IConvono
mothod	a project's honofits can be achieved	mont transport	2000)
methou	with 20% of the offert or con	warehousing pack	2009)
	versely 20% of problems can be	aging procure	
	traced to 20% of the causes. The Pa	mont distribution	
	roto analysis assigns a numerical	ment, distribution	
	score to each problem or hopefit		
	based on its impact on the organiza		
	tion: the higher the score the		
	greater the impact Conorally it is		
	greater the impact. Generally, it is		
	XVZ analysis mothods		
Cross-docking	Deliveries directly from suppliers or	Transportation	(Anto &
CI035-dOCKINg	manufacturers by passing the logis-	nrocurement	Viswanathan
	tics of warehouses	distribution	2010)
Material	An MRP system involves systematic	Inventory	(Krajowski &
requirements	planning and controlling of produc-	management	Ritzman
nlanning (MRP)	tion and inventory Materials raw	nrocurement	2005)
	materials components and parts re-	distribution	(Vonderembse
	guired to produce each product from		& White.
	the main schedule are calculated.		1996)
	and purchase orders are submitted		2000)
	accordingly. Accordingly, the time re-		
	guired to submit an order is deter-		
	mined by the duration of the deliver-		
	ies and their arrival date.		
Forecasting	To set required logistics or supply	Inventory	(Hart, 2013)
	chain indicators of logistics system of	management,	
	a company and subsequent pro-	procurement	
	cesses of logistics planning and man-		
	agement should be based on accu-		
	rate demand forecasts. Demand		
	pattern drives all logistics activities in		
	a supply chain and it is therefore cru-		
	cial for effective process manage-		
	ment of company's logistics system.		

According to the analysis presented in Table 3, the universal methods that can be applied to virtually all areas of logistics, such as inventory management, transportation, warehousing, packaging, purchasing, distribution, and cargo handling, are ABC and XYZ analysis methods, and automation methods. Using all the above methods in combination is the best way to improve the efficiency of logistics activities. As a result, there will be a synergistic effect that will result in higher productivity and efficiency of the logistics process.

Due to the fact that logistics is a process within an organization, finding ways to increase the efficiency of logistics activities requires consideration of every component within the process. According to Kornylo and Kurgan (2020), a logistics operation is a sequence of interrelated and interdependent actions that are carried out using the appropriate logistics tools and designed to optimize the enterprise's logistic process. Thus, the process model of the mechanism for increasing the efficiency of the logistic activity of the enterprise is presented in Figure 3 (Krivyakin, 2018):



Figure 3. Model of the mechanism for increasing the efficiency of an organization's logistics activities.

In order to improve the efficiency of logistics activities, it is essential that there be a control process present as well as the inextricable connection between the mechanism and the process itself. At the same time, the mechanism is used as a managed resource for improving the efficiency of an company's logistics activities, namely:

- A mechanism for improving efficiency in logistics activities is implemented in accordance with the process, that is, the existing reality is transformed into expected forms or parameters;
- 2) In the enterprise, this mechanism is under the control of various management subjects and is awaiting process control from them;
- 3) In order to achieve the expected effect, the presented mechanism must be integrated with effective management.

Thus, the use of the considered mechanism of increase of efficiency of logistics activity will allow to manage each subsystem of logistics taking into account its main characteristics under conditions of changing market, that will ensure the achievement of the logistics goal - profit maximization. In addition, the available reserves will be determined according to the results of the control of each logistics subsystem. Thus, it is possible to determine the degree of use of the reserves by comparing the available reserves for each component of the structure with the available volumes and costs of resources. This allows to identify the reserves that can improve the efficiency of the system by increasing its capacity.

3 Practical development of an effective logistics strategy for Scandicum OY

3.1 Brief overview of Scandicum OY

As mentioned earlier, Scandicum OY is a wholesale supplier of furniture and furnishings from Scandinavian countries to Eastern Europe and Asia. Having direct relationships with manufacturers and suppliers of furniture and interiors, the company is able to offer its customers the most competitive prices for furniture in the European market. (Scandicum, 2023)

The main activities of the company:

- Furniture and furnishings from Finland, Sweden, Denmark and Norway.
- Exclusive design solutions.
- Possibility of making furniture by individual sizes and sketches.
- Development of interior design.
- Design and drafting of design projects.
- Own manufacture of furniture in Finland.

In addition to office furniture, the company offers a variety of medical furniture, accessories and lighting from Scandinavian brands such as Valaisin Grönlund, Woodi, EFG European Furniture Group, Lammhults, Gotessons, etc. Moreover, Scandicum OY provides services including concept creation, interior design, furniture cleaning, installation, and delivery.

There are ready-made solutions available from Scandicum for all types of premises: from apartments and country homes to modern shopping centers and offices. Additionally, the company offers a variety of accessories, textiles, carpets, lighting and other interior products created by leading furniture designers from Scandinavia.

The company offers a wide range of interior items for residential and commercial use. Furthermore, Scandicum works with leading furniture suppliers from Spain, Italy, France, Germany, Austria, Sweden and Denmark.

To maintain a competitive position in the company market, it is essential to make the most efficient use of resources available. With this in mind, Scandicum introduces modern information technologies that will improve enterprise management as well as customer service quality significantly.

A key competitive advantage of the company is that its focus on efficiency, technology, and continuous improvement which allows it to meet quality standards without exceeding budgets or compromising quality. Furthermore, it offers its customers a wide range of items that can be bought in one location, including furniture, accessories, lighting, textiles, and utensils. The company has its own production base and also has an extensive dealer network.

The key points determining the competitiveness of the Scandicum are careful market research, forecasting of market conditions, ability to build long-term relationships with consumers, the ability to utilize advanced information technologies, effective personnel management, an effective pricing policy, and the management of costs.

In order to meet the needs of the company as well as its customers, the company's logistics strategy is to offer high quality logistics services. A focus is placed on optimizing the use of logistics resources and minimizing logistics costs. As well as having an effective customer service system that assists in quickly resolving any questions or concerns that customers may have, the company is attempting to establish a reliable transportation network that can efficiently move goods from producers to consumers. Moreover, the company maintains a long-term relationship with carriers, which enables it to provide high-quality logistics services as well as minimize transport costs. Scandicum performs the following logistics operations to ensure a high level of customer service: (1) Warehouse operations are organized and managed, and (2) freight forwarding activities are coordinated and managed.

Moreover, the company provides a full range of logistics services, including:

- Integrated logistics support across all areas of activity through partnerships and collaborations. This means that resources, technology, and organizational processes are interdependent. Integrating logistics allows company to enhance flexibility and agility in the event of supply chain disruptions and mitigate risks.
- Operational management and monitoring of orders. Efficiencies in business processes in company are promoted and supported through operations management.

To implement these activities, Scandicum provides solution of the following tasks:

1. Supplier Relations Development:

In this way, the company and its suppliers should consider each other's mutual corporate interests. Additionally, the company seeks to establish partnerships with suppliers and to maintain a reserve supplier list for some products in order to minimize the risk of underde-livering. With Scandicum, suppliers have well-established channels of communication and accurate information about required deliveries is consistently available. Finally, Vendor Managed Inventory (VMI) and Just-In-Time (JIT) logistics practices are used by the company.

2. Optimizing inventory levels in the warehouse system while ensuring the required level of customer service:

In order to accomplish this, Scandicum is attempting to reduce inventory for products shipped from France from six to four weeks and establishing close cooperation with logistics services providers, which will allow the company to have a minimal stock of products in its warehouse or not to have it at all and deliver goods as orders are received from clients in a JIT manner. Meanwhile, a high level of customer service is provided with minimal insurance stocks by managing order procedures (the Customer Care department is responsible for coordinating and controlling customer orders in collaboration with the Logistics Department and Commercial Team). Additionally, inventory management is important for company's operation. In this way, the logistics department informs the manufacturer of product needs for three months in advance by informing the manufacturer on a monthly basis in order to plan production schedules, minimize material inventories and work in progress, and shorten production cycles.

Considering all these factors, the company focuses on the following priorities in order to implement its logistics strategy and tactics:

- Maximize client satisfaction (internal client priority)
- Reducing logistics costs
- Reduction of risks associated with transportation operations
- Providing the market with a continuous supply of products
- Keeping the market's product range balanced

The objective of Scandicum in logistics is to create a unified team, with minimal use of formal procedures and rules in order to organize and carry out an efficient logistics process. This goal is based on the concept of Total Quality Management (TQM). Generally, TQM defines management as a process for continuously improving the performance of a customer-centric organization. TQM is a management philosophy that focuses on achieving quality outcomes (Dahlgaard & Khanji, 2008). Thus, it is the responsibility of every member of Scandicum to help improve the processes, products, and services of their organization. Meanwhile, the company is seeking to improve its management and processes, especially in the area of logistics, as it represents one of the most important aspects of the business. As part of its efforts to achieve this goal, the company conducts an extensive selection process and certification process of its employees, utilizes the most advanced information technologies such as social media, website (including online shopping and live chat) and small business office software Microsoft 365, effectively manages business processes, and ensures their continuity.

At the same time, as the basic principles of building a logistics management system in the company are: (1) coordination of all units involved in logistics management, (2) creation of conditions that lead to the formation of competitive advantages, (3) cost-effective use of resources. The goal of logistics management is to maximize synergies among all parts of the organization involved in delivering goods to consumers.

As a result of this general idea, functional structures are established and implemented, which facilitate specific logistic processes. In addition, all activities related to the implementation of the logistics management strategy are performed within a single organizational structure - the logistics one. As a result, all divisions of the Sacndicum and all types of logistics activities operate under the same management framework.

3.2 Types of qualitative interviews

The purpose of this chapter is to examine the use of interviewing as a qualitative method, first by reviewing the literature. Following that, the types of interviews that researchers might choose to use will be discussed.

Our minds tend to associate the word 'interview' with two or more people chatting among themselves. According to Seidman (2006), interviewing is a qualitative research method in which data is collected by asking questions. Moreover, interviews are commonly used in the fields of marketing, social sciences, and ethnography.

Thorogood and Green (2009) note that interviews can be classified into several types, each with a different structure: (1) Structured; (2) semi-structured; and (3) unstructured interview.

1) During a structured interview, a set of questions are asked in a specific order with a limited number of responses available (Denzin, 2008). The participant should be asked to provide a response to each ordered question during interviews, which are usually brief. In this sense, this is characterized by a strong quantitative component. It can be used in both focus groups and individual interviews.

Furthermore, research may benefit from structured interviews if the following conditions are met:

- When the researcher is highly knowledgeable about the topic and formulates the questions in the form of open-ended questions in a survey-like format.
- Time and resources are limited for the researcher. Due to their closed nature, structured interviews are easier to analyze and can be a useful tool for individuals. (Stuckey, 2013)

2) Researchers who use semi-structured interviews have considerable flexibility in interviewing respondents while maintaining the basic structure of the interview. Flexibility is an important characteristic of this type of interview. On the one hand, the questions are simple, and the order of the questions is quite easy to follow. As opposed to this, questions can be very open, and the conversation may go in many directions before you have addressed all the topics that need to be addressed (Fylan, 2005). Researchers should use semi-structured interviews when they do not have the time to conduct research and need detailed information about a particular subject.

3) Unstructured interviews are the most flexible type of interview. There is no established order for asking questions. In contrast, they rely on social interaction between the researcher and the informant (Zhang, 2009). By definition, unstructured interviews are informal. In this way, detailed

information can be gathered on a topic while participants can still observe behavior. This flexibility, however, may make it difficult for them to be implemented effectively. In unstructured interviews, the primary objective is to establish a connection with respondents, resulting in a high probability that respondents will be 100% truthful (Burgess, 2003). At the same time, there are no guidelines for researchers to follow. Thus, they can approach participants ethically to get as much information as possible about their research topic.

However, scientists define one more type of interview – focus group. Typically, focus groups are used to collect data through semi-structured group interviews. The definition of a focus group is provided by Anderson (1990) as "a group of people who share certain characteristics and who discuss a particular issue or topic informally". There is a stronger sense of naturalness in a focus group as compared to an individual interview because participants are influenced by one anotheras they would in real life (Casey, 2000). Depending on the study objective, focus groups could be suitable for research if the study involves examining group dynamics or if the questions are complex based on feelings, opinions, or perceptions that cannot be answered by a simple "yes" or "no".

In any case, an interview is an excellent research tool. A qualitative approach provides rich information and allows more detailed conclusions to be drawn than a quantitative approach, considering nonverbal signals, unexpected reactions, and emotional responses as well as verbal signals. It should be noted, however, that these tasks can also be time-consuming and deceptively difficult.

Table 4 shows the advantages and disadvantages of each type of interview, which may help to decide which research method is most appropriate for a particular topic.

Type of interview	Advantages	Disadvantages
Structured	Can be used for quantitative re-	Researcher cannot ask additional
interview	search.	questions to clarify nuances.
	Data can be compared.	Coverage is limited, which can lead to
	High reliability and quality.	the omission of interesting data.
	Time-efficient for interviewer	Responses may be biased.
	and respondent.	As a result of limited response options,
		people may be required to choose the
		"best fit" response.

Table 4. Advantages and disadvantages of each type of interview.

Semi-structured	Can be used in quantitative re-	An interview with lower validity than a
interview	searches.	structured interview.
	Validity is relatively high.	A successful interview requires good
	If necessary, additional ques-	conversational skills.
	tions may be asked.	It takes a great deal of time to prepare.
Unstructured in-	If necessary, additional ques-	Low reliability and validity.
terview	tions may be asked.	A successful interview requires good
	It may be more comfortable for	conversational skills.
	respondents.	Easy to get distracted.
	High-quality data can be col-	It is difficult to compare data.
	lected.	It takes a great deal of time to prepare.
	Useful if little information is	
	available on the topic.	
Focus groups	It is an effective method, since	Limited questions could be asked due
	the interview is conducted simul-	to lack of time.
	taneously with a number of indi-	Communication and leadership skills
	viduals.	are required.
	In most cases, respondents feel	Observer bias, recall bias, and social
	more comfortable.	desirability bias are more likely to oc-
	It is easier to discuss difficult top-	cur.
	ics.	There is no guarantee of confidential-
		ity or other ethical considerations
		since multiple people are involved.

Scandicum OY has already had experience in conducting surveys on customer satisfaction with the quality of furniture. Based on the opinion of customers that the company has more reserves that can lead to an increase in sales, the company decided to open a retail store for interior accessories to boost sales. It is therefore the purpose of the interview to gather information that will enable new questions or ideas to be raised in this regard. Due to this, focus groups interview, which are conducted online, are suitable for conducting research.

3.3 Conducting interview

Scandicum OY's main problem is a reduction in the efficiency of its logistic system, and the primary objective of this study is to determine the amount of influence logistics has on the enterprise's results. The focus group consisted of 13 people: people between the ages of 20 and 60. These are key employees of small businesses. Employees were selected for the interview due to their knowledge of logistics in a direct and detailed manner. Having familiarity with the company's operations and processes allows them to offer valuable insight into the challenges faced by the logistics

department. Further, employees are directly affected by the logistics system in their daily work, and they are therefore more likely to be involved in finding solutions to any problems that may arise. A key objective of the interview is to identify the factors that have the greatest impact on the enterprise's logistics system.

3.3.1 Building of interview questions

Developing questions to discover the ways companies improve their logistics activities:

Q1: How do you assess the level of logistics in the enterprise?

Objective of the question: by asking this question, it will be possible to learn about the methods and metrics used by companies to evaluate their logistics operations.

Q2: Can you describe the logistics problems that your company faces?

Objective of the question: with this question the information about the specific challenges and issues that companies encounter in managing their logistics operations will be obtained. Furthermore, insights into the practice of logistics management will be gained as well as the most pressing areas for improvement identified.

Q3: Could your logistics be improved in any way?

Objective of the question: with this question the information about potential areas for logistics operations improvement will be acquired. Furthermore, the response can provide insight into the company's level of awareness and commitment to logistics optimization.

Q4: How would you describe the most important aspect of the logistics field? **Objective of the question:**

Q5: What makes your customers choose to do business with you?

Objective of the question: It is significant to answer this question in order to obtain valuable information about the specific aspects of logistics management that customers find important, such as reliable and on-time deliveries, accurate order fulfillment, responsive customer service, effective communication, and competitive pricing. Additionally, it can assist in increasing customer satisfaction by increasing understanding of how logistics plays a role in building customer relationships.

Q6: What does logistics efficiency mean to you?

Objective of the question: It is important to obtain information about the company's understanding and priorities regarding logistics efficiency, as well as their relationship to the overall business objectives.

Q7: In your opinion, what needs to be done to improve the efficiency of your enterprise's logistics?

Objective of the question: with this question, it will be possible to understand the level of commitment and readiness of company to implement improvements in its logistics operations, as well as any potential obstacles or challenges that may need to be addressed for success to be achieved.

Q8: Can you describe the most serious (common) logistical challenges your organization faces? **Objective of the question:** asking this question will allow to gain insight into the common problems that small enterprises encounter in their logistics operations and identify potential improvements. Additionally, the answer will enable to better understand how these challenges may impact the company's overall performance, its competitiveness, and its ability to address these issues.

Q9: What factors contribute to the decision-making process and the choice of a logistics direction? **Objective of the question:** with this question, insights into the complex decision-making process that small enterprises undergo will be gained. Furthermore, the answer can assist in understand-ing the potential trade-offs and challenges small enterprises face in their decision-making process, including limited resources and expertise, market competition, regulatory requirements, and technological advances.

Q10: How do you deal with the main factors that determine your business's success or failure? **Objective of the question:** A key objective of this question is to understand how companies manage the key factors that influence their business performance. As a result, a greater understanding of the companies' strategic priorities, risk management practices, and overall business outlook can be gained.

Q11: Among the many aspects of logistics, what do you consider to be the most important?

Objective of the question: information will be acquired regarding the specific areas of logistics that are prioritized by organizations, as well as information regarding key areas that need improvement. Further, the answer may be useful in identifying the organization's strengths and weaknesses in specific areas of logistics, which will be useful in developing a logistics strategy that is both efficient and effective.

Q12: How would you describe the main logistics challenges?

Objective of the question: Small businesses may encounter different logistic challenges depending on their type of business, industry, and location, so this question can help to identify those challenges. As well, the interviewee's response may provide information about how these challenges affect the performance and competitiveness of the organization.

Q13: What role does logistics play in your organization?

Objective of the question: the aim of this interview question is to understand the importance of logistics within the organization. Having an answer to this question can provide information regarding the level of importance given to logistics, as well as the organization's goals and objectives related to logistics, and the level of investment being made in logistics-related activities. In addition, it may shed light on the interviewee's perception of the relationship between logistics and the overall performance of the organization.

The selection of companies was made through the online service YTJ. It is a Finnish government service jointly maintained by the Finnish Patent and Registration Office and the Finnish Tax Administration called the Business Information System (BIS; Finnish: Yritysja yhteisötietojärjestelmä, YTJ). Additionally, the system provides access to Finnish Trade Registers and Finnish Foundation Registers as well as the ability to submit information regarding Finnish companies. The invitation for an interview was sent to the potential companies in electronic form via email. The table below shows the number of companies contacted and the number of companies that agreed to participate in the interview:

Table 5. Interview data.

The number of companies contacted	46
The number of surveyed	13

Return	28.26%

Number of enterprises surveyed is presented in the table below:

Enterprise	Adress	Type of bussines
Company A	Kerava	Manufacture of household fur-
		nishings of textile materials
Company B	Helsinki	Manufacture of household fur-
		nishings of textile materials
Company C	Vantaa	Manufacture of kitchen furni-
		ture
Company D	Porvoo	Manufacture of locks and hinges
Company E	Nummela	Manufacture of electronic light-
		ing equipment
Company F	Espoo	Manufacture of kitchen furni-
		ture
Company G	Lahti	Manufacture of doors and win-
		dows
Company H	Kuusankoski	Manufacture of office and shop
		furniture
Company I	Helsinki	Manufacture of office and shop
		furniture
Company J	Espoo	Manufacture of office and shop
		furniture
Company K	Vantaa	Manufacture of office and shop
		furniture
Company L	Tuusula	Manufacture of office and shop
		furniture
Company O	Lahti	Manufacture of office and shop
		furniture

Table 6. The number of enterprises surveyed.

Below is a description of the structure of the focus group interview script:

The beginning of the conversation. Group members are introduced to each other and the purpose of the discussion is explained to them. Then respondents are asked simple questions (lifestyle, general questions about the product category) which prepare them for the upcoming exchange of experiences and participation in the discussion to follow. It is the moderator's responsibility at this point to create an atmosphere of trust in the focus group. Following that, questions of a more detailed nature are asked. Depending on the specific goals set, the discussion can be divided into two types:

- Focus group participants are gently guided by the moderator to the central questions of the discussion, and the questions themselves become more specific and focused during the process.
- 2) The moderator presents the group with a specific positioning statement, following which the group discusses related topics, resulting in the discussion becoming broader in scope.

Finally, the discussion naturally comes to an end, the moderator closes the list of questions, and the members of the audience are thanked for their participation.

3.4 Research results

Based on an analysis of the current situation, the following conclusions can be drawn:

- It is common for companies to evaluate different logistics indicators, although the majority
 of these indicators are cost evaluation indicators and logistics performance evaluation indicators.
- According to most respondents, in order to be effective, a logistics strategy should address
 issues with space constraints during times of production growth, large inventories, and inefficient flows of materials and information.
- It is estimated that 60% of companies have conflict situations (for example, communication between departments is not clear, conflicts with suppliers, inefficient processes or conflicting objectives) affecting their logistics departments.
- Logistics effectiveness is primarily evaluated based on operational logistics costs by the majority of companies (90%).
- Around 15% of the companies surveyed have a logistics strategy that is consciously established.

In addition, from the interview, it was determined that companies encounter the following main problems in their logistics activities:

Process	Issue	Position within the	Possible solution
		logistics system	
Planning	The lack of skills	System in general	Learning the latest tech- niques, attracting highly qualified employees
An analysis of the ex-	The lack of reliable	The external mate-	Information collection and
ternal environment	data	rial flows of pur- chases and sales	analysis related to special- ized services
Cost estimation for the logistics system	High cost	Transport and warehouse logistics	A small company may be able to expand its capabili- ties and offer a wider range of services by collab- orating with other enter- prises or logistics provid- ers, developing and implementing progressive technologies
Funding	The lack of investment	System in general	Attracting new investors and obtaining loans
Paperwork	A lot of paperwork	Office management	Developing an optimiza- tion program (electronic document management)
Disorganized	In the logistics in-	Logistics and supply	Defining work methods or
processes	dustry, things are	chain	establishing charts to de-
	constantly chang-		fine what is expected at
	ing		each stage of process

Table 7. The analysis of interview data.

Taken together, the problem of logistics processes and its solution are forming a trend in which the cost of logistics can be reduced by utilizing the experience of other enterprises in the design and optimization of logistics processes. Logistics processes become an integral part of the procurement and sales management process, and their efficiency is essential for the competitiveness of an organization. Moreover, having an ability to integrate and coordinate at almost all levels of an organization and implementing the process flow management principle (process planning, documentation and process analysis), logistics services have real opportunities and tools to coordinate the local objectives of the enterprise's divisions with the global, systemic goals of the organization. Therefore, logistics management is an essential element of success in enterprises that focus on creating and selling competitive products.

3.5 Project for an effective logistics strategy for Scandicum OY

Based on interview data, it has been found that some companies do not distinguish between logistics strategy and logistics planning. Logistics is often seen more as a cost than a value-creating activity by these companies. For the development of logistics strategy and planning, Copacino (1997) recommends the process shown in Figure 4:



Figure 4. The development of logistics strategy and planning.

A major objective of Scandicum is to provide comprehensive services, it is therefore necessary to develop the business in a classical manner. In spite of this, it is important to keep in mind that different customers may have different expectations and preferences regarding the manner in which the sales process should be conducted. It is therefore significant that the company considers these needs and offers a comprehensive selection of services in order to fully satisfy its customers. For example, whenever a client prefers a tailored service style, the company may be able to provide them with services relating to the creation of design and the manufacture of products at their request.

The objective is to build a successful logistics process, however in order to do this it is necessary to understand the sequence in which the steps must be taken to develop a fully functional logistics system. Therefore, it is proposed to move sequentially, starting with the development of a firstlevel logistics system. The schematic looks as follows:



Figure 5. An algorithm for building a logistics system.

Consequently, it is necessary to modify the company's strategy in relation to potential customers and align it with the other main strategies that are currently in use on the market by setting the following priorities:

- 1. Increasing the efficiency of logistics services
- 2. Reducing the cost of logistics

In this case, all other approaches will not produce a tangible and real result, since the competition is very high in these areas where the company is currently operating.

Thus, first of all, the existing processes of the organization will be identified and assigned to the following categories: core, support, management, and development processes. Generally, core processes are those that add value to the company's main products. By managing resources and/or infrastructure, the support process is intended to support the activities of the organization. Moreover, it is necessary to manage processes so that activities can be measured, monitored, and controlled. Management of the process ensures that the primary and secondary processes are developed and executed in accordance with the established goals and constraints. Accordingly, Scandicum OY's organizational process is illustrated in Figure 6:



Figure 6. Scandicum OY's core business processes.

The analysis of existing business processes within an organization can be divided into two levels. Firstly, the selected business process is compared with the enterprise process model. As a process model, the Process Classification Framework (PCF) for process evaluation developed by the American Productivity & Quality Center (APQC) is used (APQC, 1994-2023). The PCF APQC tool serves as a main identification tool for primary, secondary, and control processes across all industries.

1.0	Developing vision and strategy
2.0	Product / service development and management
3.0	Product / service promotion and sales
4.0	Supply of products
5.0	Provision of services
6.0	Post-sales management
7.0	Human resource development and management
8.0	Information technology management
9.0	Management of financial resources
10.0	Management of fixed assets, including acquisition and maintenance
11.0	Rick management, compliance, recovery, and sustainability
12.0	External relationships management
13.0	The development and management of enterprise competencies

Following this, the identified processes of the organization were compared with the selected process model (Table 9):

	APQC PCF Framework	Scandicum processes
1.0	Developing vision and strategy	
2.0	Product / service development and man-	
	agement	
3.0	Product / service promotion and sales	Promotion of services and events through
		advertising and marketing
4.0	Supply of products	Supply activities
5.0	Provision of services	Provision of services
6.0	Post-sales management	
7.0	Human resource development and man-	HR administration
	agement	
8.0	Information technology management	The installation and updating of software
9.0	Management of financial resources	Planning
		Accounting Management
		Calculations
10.0	Management of fixed assets, including ac-	The maintenance and repairs of premises,
	quisition and maintenance	equipment
11.0	Rick management, compliance, recovery,	
	and sustainability	
12.0	External relationships management	Providing reports to the organization's gov-
		erning bodies
13.0	The development and management of	Organizing activities
	enterprise competencies	Monitoring

Table 9. An analysis of the organization's processes in relation to the model of processes.

According to the analysis of the process model, the organization does not have any development processes - the development and implementation of new services, as well as improvements to existing services, are not provided and occur on a random basis, resulting in reduced efficiency of business process management for the organization. Aside from this, the process of promoting and selling products and services consists primarily of advertising - there is no study of the organization's market, customer systems, or possible promotional and sales channels. Consequently, the analysis of processes provided an understanding of the technological operations and the results of those actions that determined the organization's goals.

One of the leading forces behind change is a clear vision of strategic goals and an irresistible desire to achieve those goals. It is proposed that the maximization of investment value should be the criterion for forming an effective business model. In this regard, Figure 7 illustrates how Scandicum OY is able to develop a financial and economic model of assessing its business processes and shows the main parameters of a financial and economic model for evaluating its business processes:



Figure 7. Scandicum OY's financial and economic model.

This stage requires the sequential implementation of the following steps in order for these strategies to be implemented:

Identifying the key performance indicators of the company's existing logistics system, which requires evaluating both the effectiveness of the business as a whole as well as its components (departments, processes, and employees). Additionally, it is necessary to analyze the financial results of the existing business in order to determine its effectiveness in the different areas. There is a possibility of personnel restructuring as well. Afterward, the development of a process model or the construction of business processes, as well as the development of the organizational structure of a company or logistics service are performed. Ideally, this should be accomplished simultaneously, since a business process depends heavily on its structure, and that structure in turn depends upon its ability to execute a particular business process.

At the same, an organization should have at least three main departments in order to manage all processes efficiently:



Figure 8. Main company's units.

Furthermore, an information support system is a set of methods and techniques for collecting, storing, transmitting, and processing information in order to achieve the goals of logistics. In addition, logistics management systems comprise information systems, databases, and information technologies. Thus, logistics information support is one of the most important components of this business, so all responsible managers should pay close attention to this area. As the company plans to engage in direct business as well as in a new direction, it will be necessary to have a system that allows all divisions to be integrated into one logistics network.

3.6 Economic impact of implementing a logistics strategy

Each business process should incorporate the definition of the economic effect by considering expansion of activities and cost savings in terms of material, financial and information flows. As the project is being developed, the parameters of the project, its structure, the composition of participants, are constantly evolving. Thus, the parameters that characterize the project (projected costs, income, expenses, etc.) are affected. During the implementation of the logistics strategy, it is necessary to analyze the change in project performance indicators, while taking into consideration that deviations from the planned parameters may occur.

A functional relationship between profit, production, and sales volume and costs can be established in economic analysis through the division of costs into variable and fixed elements. Using this dependence, calculations are performed to determine the margin levels depending on the prices set, the type of products in the assortment, the assessment of variable costs, and the total amount of fixed costs.

Moreover, an enterprise's break-even level can be predicted using this dependence. The breakeven point is the point at which the total revenue equals the total cost of production. Using this indicator, managers can determine the minimum amount of production that must be sold to avoid losses. Next, considering the sequence of forecasting critical volumes of services sold:

There are 613 interior accessories sold by the organization for a total amount of 575 054 euros according to their report. Approximately 448 542 euros (C) will be spent on purchasing and selling interior accessories. This includes variable costs (VC) of 394 717 €, and fixed costs (FC) of 53 825 €. In this case, the profit from the sale of products (PO) amounted to 126 512 € (575 054 - 448 542).

In accordance with the company's data, calculate the amount of revenue and the number of products sold at break-even:

Table 10. A relationship between the volume of revenue and the quantity of products sold and their price. Data received from Scandicum report.

Denomination	€
Sales price per unit (P)	939
Number of products sold; units (U)	613
Fixed cost (FC)	53 825
Variable cost (VC)	394 717
Unit variable cost (VC _u)	644
Revenues from sales (R)	575 054
Cost (C)	448 542
Break-even quantity; units (Q)	182
Break-even revenue (BR)	1831410

Break-even sales volume (BV)	171 636

There will be the sale of 613 interior accessories at an average price of 939 € per unit. Unit variable cost is 644 € (VC / U).

At the break-even point, the critical sales volume is $171\ 636 \notin$, according to the formula **BV = FC : (** 1 – **VC : R)**. As a consequence, when the organization sells accessories totaling $171\ 636 \notin$ at the current cost level, its profitability is 0.

Break-even quantity (Q) = Fixed costs / (Sales price per unit – Variable cost per unit) = $182 \in$ and the Break-even revenue (BR) = Break-even quantity * Sales price per unit = $170 898 \in$.

The next step will be to calculate the influence of factors on the critical sales volume for the future.

1. The impact of a change in fixed costs

Based on the assumption that fixed costs will be reduced by 6% in the forecast period, then their amount will be $50596 \in$. In this case, the sales volume will be = (50596 - 53825) / (939 - 644) = -10 units. As a result, the organization would need to sell 10 less units of products in the forecast period in order to break even after a 6% decrease in fixed costs.

2. The impact of changes in variable costs

It is planned that unit variable costs will increase by 7% during the forecast period. Therefore, it will amount to $689 \in$. In this case, the sales volume will be = 53825*(1/(939 - 689) - 1/(939 - 644)) = -32 units. As a result of the calculation, if unit variable costs increase (and all other conditions remain unchanged), the organization would have to sell 32 units less in order to break even. Otherwise, Scandicum OY will experience a decrease in profitability.

3. The impact of a change in price

It is planned that unit sales price will increase by 14% during the forecast period. Consequently, it will amount to $1070 \in$. In this case, the sales volume will be = 53 825* (1/(1070 - 644) - 1/(939 - 664)) = -56 units.

By raising the cost of products, it will be possible for the company to earn a greater profit, and accordingly will not be required to produce more goods. Due to this, organizations may be able to sell 56 units fewer than in the period under review with an increase in the sale price of services of 14%.

4. Estimation of break-even revenue from sales

Therefore, when all factors change simultaneously, the cumulative effect of all factors on the change in the volume of sales (VS_{all}) during the forecast period will be as follows: $VS_{all} = -10 - 32 - 56 = -98$ units. And the product sales volume at break-even point should be at least: 182 - 98 = 84 units. Considering that the average selling price of an accessory will be $1\ 070 \notin$ during the forecast period, it is necessary to sell units of accessories for a sum not less than $104\ 860 \notin (1070\ *98)$ in order to be a break-even organization.

By applying the break-even analysis technique, it is possible to answer the question: "How much do we need to increase (decrease) sales by in order to increase (decrease) profit by x%?". The profit from the sale of interior accessories based on Scandicum's report was 126 512 € and it is projected to rise by 3%, then:

VS(P) = (126 512 *1,03 - 126 512) / (939 - 644) = 13 units.

Thus, sales volume should increase by 13 units, but if the price and variable costs change, then:

VS(P+VC) = (126 512 *1,03 – 126 512) / (1070 – 644) = 9 units. Therefore, the sales volume should increase by 9 units.

Furthermore, the analysis should be conducted in the context of each product sold by the organization, rather than using the average price of goods, as is done in this study. Following this, all changes in the production and sale of all products are summed up, and the amount of revenue at break-even point is calculated as a whole.

4 Discussion

Having examined and analyzed the current state of the art in logistics and logistics strategy development, the following chapter discusses the main findings of the case study with a theoretical background.

Companies without a logistics strategy are at risk of falling behind their competitors or losing stable income, even if they have the most efficient logistics solutions. Logistics strategy refers to a set of methods and approaches that ensure efficient functioning of a logistics system based on logistics principles. The following factors should be considered when developing a logistics strategy:

- An enterprise's objectives
- The level of organization and management of the processes
- Competitive environment

In order to achieve its formation, a set of measures should be developed and implemented to integrate logistics into the company's operations. A logistics strategy is extremely important, considering the competitive nature of the market and the development of the logistics services market for enterprises, as well as for small and medium-sized businesses. Modern entrepreneurs recognize the importance of building an efficient logistical system that meets market demands and provides a competitive advantage to the organization.

Moreover, a furniture company's development strategy is greatly influenced by natural, demographic, political, economic, and a variety of other factors. Depending on them, the company will receive income and determine what areas will be the most profitable in the short- and long-term. Profitability of the business can be calculated based on their ability to meet the expectations. However, these factors can vary significantly between locations, and so it is necessary for each location to develop its own strategy. Nevertheless, there are a number of general principles and rules that can be used to formulate a strategy.

As part of this paper, a brief overview of existing approaches for the implementation of logistics processes in an organization is presented, along with the methodology for applying these approaches in the conditions of Finnish firms. In addition, this paper presents a methodology for evaluating the effectiveness of logistics management using marginal indicators.

Finally, logistics strategy is designed to improve the efficiency of the material flow management system. Additionally, it is an extremely effective tool for reducing and optimizing a company's variable costs. As a result of the implementation of a logistics strategy, the company's economic stability is enhanced. Developing this system requires, first of all, an understanding of the logistics processes taking place within it, as well as an analysis and evaluation of the main logistics factors that influence the effectiveness of this system.

4.1 Proposals for development

There are several areas that can be further developed in future work for Scandicum in order to enhance the efficiency and effectiveness of its logistical operations.

Scandicum OY's decision to open an interior accessories retail store - produced in Scandinavian factories - represents a real opportunity not only to be competitive in the furniture market, but also to increase its share. Store will feature a variety of Swedish brands, including Lillio, Bork, and Stag. As a product that is constantly relevant, furniture and accessories are in high demand, making the business associated with their sale highly profitable. Furthermore, during the past few years, buyers have become increasingly selective when choosing products for their interiors, as well as more demanding of the quality of these products. Meanwhile, people have recently given preference to goods made in Scandinavia, particularly in Sweden. All these factors suggest that the establishment of a store selling furniture and interior accessories will contribute to the continued development of Scandicum OY in the furniture market.

In addition, Scandicum may be able to make its logistics strategy more sustainable as consumers become more concerned about environmental issues. The company may use more environmentally friendly packaging materials, reduce carbon emissions from transportation, and promote sustainable practices throughout its supply chain in order to achieve these goals.

By concentrating on these areas, Scandicum will be able to continue to improve its logistics strategy and maintain its competitive advantage within the furniture industry.

5 Conclusion

To conclude, the purpose of this thesis was to develop an effective logistics strategy for the furniture company Scandicum OY. This thesis was theoretically based on the concept, essence, and classification of logistics strategies, as well as the influence of logistics strategies on the performance of small businesses and factors affecting the development of profitable logistics strategies.

Moreover, in the thesis work an overview of Scandicum OY was presented and an effective logistics strategy was developed, taking into account the economic impacts of implementing it. An analysis is conducted of the organization's structure, of its business processes, as well as of the main stages of the enterprise's operations. This paper has highlighted the importance of logistics strategies for small businesses and identified the key factors contributing to their success.

Furthermore, marketing research was conducted through a focus group, which provided valuable information regarding consumer needs and preferences, as well as the most common logistical problems that enterprises encounter. A strategy was thus determined based on the results of the focus group in order to ensure the enterprise's progress.

Considering all factors, a logistics strategy based on cost minimization was proposed for Scandicum OY. For Scandicum to achieve maximum profitability, it is necessary to:

1. Maintain the efficiency of the logistics process.

2. Reduce logistics costs as much as possible.

Meanwhile, the strategy is aimed at continuously improving the quality of services offered to customers, reducing costs, and increasing customer satisfaction. The company strives to become a market leader by offering its customers the best solutions possible based on high quality standards.

5.1 Reliability and Ethics review

It was the findings presented in articles, journals, writings, and literature that formed the theoretical foundation for the development of this thesis. Official websites, e-databases, e-books, and Google Scholar were used as sources. Additionally, In the online library of the JAMK University of Applied Sciences, it was possible to find reliable references. The reliability of this thesis is therefore assured. Furthermore, this paper adheres to the guidelines for thesis layout and ethical practice established by JAMK.

An interview was conducted in order to gather information using a qualitative approach. During the survey, data was collected from companies registered in Finland. E-mails and social media were used to contact Finnish companies. Compared to expectations, fewer respondents participated in the interview. Although the target group was small, it was reliable. Moreover, the participants were informed that they may choose not to answer any questions they feel uncomfortable answering. In accordance with the study's ethical standards, all participants were treated with respect and dignity as well as courtesy and their privacy was protected.

The companies may, however, be at different stages in their development, which is why their answers may vary. Thus, there is only one reason for the lack of reliability. Similarly positioned companies in the future may produce different results, but that is entirely due to internal factors such as staff and their ability to handle their respective situations. Therefore, Scandicum may find it beneficial to conduct a survey again for a larger audience in the future.

5.2 Suggestion for future

The creation of an effective logistics strategy alone is not sufficient for establishing a company. Further research is needed to reach the next level. In this stage, it is highly advisable to conduct market research, as well as to formulate sales and financial strategies. In order to promote the brand image, it is necessary to develop a strategic marketing plan and effectively implement it. It is essential to know the target market, specifically in Finland, in order to deliver the appropriate product at the appropriate time to the right segment. Furthermore, it would be helpful for the author to interview furniture companies' customers in Finland with a view to gain insight into the targets and preferences of these customers as well as their decision-making process.

6 References

- Allen, R. T. (2014). Exploring the Lived Experiences of Program Managers Regarding an Automated Logistics Environment. *Northcentral University*, 2-34.
- Anderson, G. (1990). Fundamentals of educational research. London: The Falmer Press. .
- Andiyappillai, N. (2021). An Analysis of the Impact of Automation on Supply Chain Performance in Logistics Companies. *IOP Conf. Series: Materials Science and Engineering*, DOI:10.1088/1757-899X/1055/1/012055.
- Andrievska, V. B. (2019). Identification of Creation and Development Projects of Logistics Systems.
 In V. B. Andrievska, DEVELOPMENT OF MANAGEMENT AND ENTREPRENEURSHIP METHODS ON TRANSPORT (pp. 26-37). Odessa: DOI 10.31375/2226-1915-2019-4-26-37.
- Annacchino, M. A. (2003). The Strategic Difference Between Large and Small Companies. In M. A. Annacchino, *New Product Development: From Initial Idea To Product Management* (pp. 58-59). USA: Elsevier.
- APQC. (1994-2023). Process Frameworks. Retrieved from APQC: https://www.apqc.org/
- Apte, U. M., & Viswanathan, S. (2010). Effective Cross Docking for Improving Distribution Efficiencies. International Journal of Logistics Research and Applications, 291-302.
- Bacs, Z. F. (2018). *Financial performance measurement of Hungarian retail food companies.* Contem-porary Economics. 12(4), 459-472. https://doi.org/10.5709/ce.1897-9254.290.
- Basu, A. B. (2003). Synthesis and Decomposition of Processes in Organizations. Dallas and Nashville. Vol. 14(4):337-355: INFORM.
- BorcoȘi, C. A. (2015). *The Strategies of Enterprises Development*. Research and Science Today No. 2(10).
- Bowersox, D. a. (1996). *Logistical management: The integrated supply chain process.* NewYork: Macmillan.
- Brewer Ann M., B. K. (2008). Integrated Logistics Strategies. In K. J. Ann M. Brewer, Handbook of Logistics and Supply Chain Management (pp. 162-164). Bingley: Emerald Group Publishing.
- Bulinski, J. W. (2013). Utilization of ABC/XYZ analysis in stock planning in the enterprise. Annals of Warsaw University of Life Sciences-SGGW. Agriculture, (61 Agric. Forest Eng.)., 89–96.
- Bullard, S. H. (2002). Furniture Manufacturing & Marketing: Eight strategic issues for the 21st century. Mississippi State: Faculty Publications.
- Burgess, R. G. (2003). The unstructured interview as a conversation. In R. G. Burgess, *Field Research: a Sourcebook and Field Manual* (pp. 177-182). Routledge.

- Buyukozkan, G. F. (2008). Selection of the strategic alliance partner in logistics value chain. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 113, 148-158.
- Casey, M. &. (2000). Focus groups: A practical guide for applied research. (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Cervone, H. (2009). Managing digital libraries: the view from 30,000 feet, applied digital library project management-using Pareto analysis to determine task importance rankings. *OCLC Systems and Services: International Digital Library Perspectives*, 25(2), 76-81.
- Chandler Jr, A. D. (1969). *Strategy and structure: Chapters in the history of the American industrial enterprise (Vol. 120).* Cambridge, Massachusetts, and London : MIT press.
- Cherchata, A. P. (2022). Innovations in Logistics Management as a Direction for Improving the Logistics Activities of Enterprises. *Management Systems in Production Engineering*, 9 17. DOI: https://doi.org/10.2478/mspe-2022-0002.
- Chobanova, R. &. (2015). FURNITURE MANUFACTURING CHALLENGES ON THE WORLD MARKET: THE BULGARIA'S CASE. Bulgaria.
- Christopher, M. (1998). Logistics and Supply Chain Management. London: Prentice Hall.
- Christopher, M. (1999). Logistics and Supply Chain Management: Strategies for Reducing Cost and Improving Service (Second Edition). *Journal of Logistics Research and Applications*, 103-104. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/1367556990.
- Cooper, J. C. (1993). International Journal of Physical Distribution & Logistics Management. In J. C. Cooper, *Logistics Strategies for Global Businesses* (pp. 12-23). MCB UP Ltd.
- Copacino, W. C. (1997). Supply chain management: The basics and beyond (Vol. 1). CRC Press.
- Dahlgaard, J. J., & Khanji, G. K. (2008). Fundamentals of total quality management. Routledge.
- Denzin, N. K. (2008). *Collecting and interpreting qualitative materials (Vol. 3)*. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE.
- Durach, F. S. (2010). Trends and Strategies in Global Logistics and Supply Chain Management . In D. Waters, Global Logistics: New Directions in Supply Chain Management (p. Strategies section). Kogan Page.
- Dybskaya, V. V. (2021). [Логистика складирования : учебник], Logistics Waregousing: Textbook. Moscow : INFRA-M.
- Farahani, R. Z. (2011). Logistics Operations and Management . In S. R. Reza Zanjirani Farahani, *Concepts and Models* (pp. 47-48). London, , Waltham: Elsevier Inc.

- Fawcett, S. E. (1997). Strategic intent, measurement capability, and operational success: making the connection. In *International Journal of Physical Distribution & Logistics Management* (pp. 27: 420-421). MCB UP Ltd.
- Fylan, F. (2005). Semi-structured interviewing. In J. Miles, & P. Gilbert, A handbook of research methods for clinical and health psychology (pp. 5(2), 65-78). Oxford : OXFORD University Press.
- Gadzhinsky, A. (1999). *Logistics: A Textbook for Students of Higher and Secondary Educational Institutions, 2nd ed.* Moscow: Publishing and trading Corporation.
- Gadzhinsky, A. M. (2012). [Логистика: Учебник] Logistics: Textbook. Moscow: Publishing and Trading Corporation "Dashkov and K". pp. 484. .
- Gourdin, K. (2001). *Global logistics management: a competitive advantage for the new millennium.* Oxford: Blackwell Publishers.
- Grigoriev, M., & Dolgov, A. &. (2014). [Коммерческая логистика: теория и практика] Commercial Logistics: Theory and Practice 3-d Edition. Logistics. Advanced Course. Moscow: Yurait.
- Gruchmann, T. (2019). Advanced Green Logistics Strategiesand Technologies. In M. K. Henk Zijm, Operations, Logistics and Supply Chain Management (pp. 663-686). Essen: Springer International Publishing AG.
- Gulati, R. (2021). Materials, Parts, and Inventory Management. In R. Gulati, *Maintenance and Reliability Best Practices, Third Edition* (pp. 167-168). United States of America: Industrial Press.
- Gursoy, M. (2010). A Decision Supportive Method For Multimodal Freight Transport Mode Choice. *Iranian Journal of Science & Technology*, 461-470.
- Gurtu, A. (2021). Optimization of Inventory Holding Cost Due to Price, Weight, and Volume of Items. *Journal of Risk and Financial Management*, 14(2):65. DOI:10.3390/jrfm14020065.
- Hansen, D. R. (2021). Cost management . Cengage Learning.
- Harrison, A. S. (2019). *Logistics management and strategy*. Harlow: Pearson UK.
- Hart, M. L. (2013). Logistics management based on demand forecasting. *Research in logistics & production, 3.,* 72-78.
- Huber, G. P. (1990). A theory of the effects of advanced information technologies on organizational design, intelligence, and decision making. *Academy of management review*, 15(1), 47-71.

Jacyna, M. (2013). The role of the cargo consolidation center in urban logistics system. International journal of sustainable development and planning, 8(1), 100-113.

Johnson, J. W. (1999). Contemporary Logistics. Prentice Hall: New Jersey.

- Karaxha, H., & Kristo, I. (2016). The Logistics and Management of Distribution Channels The Case of Kosovo. *ILIRIA International Review*, DOI:10.21113/iir.v6i1.224.
- Kornylo, I., & Kurgan, P. (2020). System Organization of Logistics in Construction. *Innovative* Solution in Modern Science., 4(40), 18-26.
- Krajewski, L. J., & Ritzman, L. P. (2005). *Operations Management Strategy and Analysis (7 ed.).* Prentice Hall.
- Krivyakin, K. S. (2018). [Механизм повышения эффективности организации логистической деятельности предприятия]. The mechanism of increase of efficiency of logistic activity of the enterprise. Moscow: [Organizator proizvodstva]. Organizer of Production, 26(4), 77-89. DOI: 10.25987/VSTU.2018.68.55.007 (in Russian).
- Lambert, D. M. (1993). Strategic logistics management. (Vol. 69). Homewood, IL: Irwin.
- Markovits-Somogyi, R. B. (2010). Efficiency in Transport Logistics an Academic and a Practical Viewpoint. *Acta Technica Jaurinensis Series Logistica*, 369-370.
- McKinnon, A. (2008). Integrated Logistics Strategies. In K. J. Ann M. Brewer, *Handbook og Logistics* and Supply Chain Management (p. 164). Bingley: Emerald Group Publising.
- Melecke, L. (2013). Assessment of EU competitiveness factors by multivariate methods. International Journal of Social, Behavioral, Educational, Economic, Business and, 7(6).
- Mentzer, J. D. (2001). Defining Supply Chain Management, vol. 22(2). *Journal of Business Logistics*, 1-25. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1002/j.2158-1592.2001.tb00001.x .
- Mentzer, J. M. (2004). Toward a unified theory of logistics. *International Journal of Physical Distribution & Logistics Management*, 34(8), 606-627.
- Njoroge, J. O. (2016). Does external environment influence organizational performance? The case of Kenyan State Corporations. *Management and Organizational Studies*, 3(3), 41-51.
- Olavarrieta, S., & Ellinger, A. E. (1997). Resource-based Theory and Strategic Logistics Research. International Journal of Physical Distribution and Logistics Management, 279: 559–587.
- Olkiewicz, M. (2018). Quality improvement through foresight methodology as a direction to increase the effectiveness of an organization. In M. Olkiewicz, *Contemporary Economics* (pp. 12(1), 69-80). https://doi.org/10.5709/ce.1897-9254.264.

- Paddeu, D. (2016). How do you evaluate logistics and supply chain performance? A review of the main methods and indicators. *European Transport*, 61(4), 1-16.
- Panayides, P. M. (2004). Logistics service providers: an empirical study of marketing strategies and company performance. *International Journal of Logistics: Research and Applications*, 7.
- Parvini, M. (2011). Packaging and Material Handling: Packaging for Distribution Efficiency. In R. Z. Farahani, *Logistics Operations and Management* (pp. 175-176). Tehran, Iran: Elsevier.
- Pearce, J. A., & Robinson, R. B. (2000). *Strategic management: Formulation, implementation, and control.* Columbus, OH: Irwin/McGraw-Hill.
- Quinn, J. B. (1990). *Beyond products: Services-based strategy.* Harvard business review , 68(2), 58-60.
- Research, G. V. (2022, April 11). *Furniture Market Size, Share & Trends Analysis Report*. Retrieved from Grand view research: https://www.grandviewresearch.com/industry-analysis/furniture-market
- Richard D. Wilding, J. M. (1996). Enabling time-based strategy through logistics using time to competitive advantage. *Logistics Information Management*, 32-38.
- Rushton, A. C. (2014). *The Hand Book of Logistics & Distribution Management (5th ed.).* London: Kogan Page .
- Sadraoui, T., & Mchirgui, N. (2014). Supply Chain Management Optimization within Information System Development, vol. 2(2). *International Journal of Econometrics and Financial Management*, 59-71. DOI: https://doi.org/10.12691/ijefm-2-2-2.
- Savina, H., Dusheiko, Y., & Rozova, A. (2021). *The essence of the logistics activities of the enterprise in modern business conditions.* Kherson, 154-166. DOI: 10.38188/2534-9228.21.3.17: VUZF review.
- Scandicum. (2023). Scandicum . Retrieved from https://scandicum.ru/contact_en.php
- Seidman, I. (2006). Interviewing as qualitative research: A guide for researchers in education and the social sciences. Teachers college press.
- Sergeev, V. (2015). *Common Logistics Strategies.* Saint Petersburg: Production Management Press.
- Shrivastava, P. (1985). CORPORATE STRATEGY: Integrating Strategy Formulation with Organizational Culture . *Journal of Business Strategy*, Vol. 5 No. 3, pp. 103-111.
- SteadieSeifi, M. (2011). Logistics Strategic Decisions. In R. Z. Farahani, *Logistics Operations and Management* (pp. 43-45). Tehran: Elsevier. t. DOI: 10.1016/B978-0-12-385202-1.00003-7.

- Stock, J. R. (2001). Chapter 12 Procurement . In J. R. Stock, *Strategic logistics management (Vol. 4)* (pp. 489-494). Boston, MA: McGraw-Hill/Irwin.
- Stuckey, H. L. (2013). Three types of interviews: Qualitative research methods in social health. *Journal of Social Health and Diabetes*, 1(02), 56-59.
- Tang, H. (1998). An integrative model of innovation in organizations. *Technovation*, 297-309.
- Thorogood, N., & Green, J. (2009). *Qualitative Methods for Health Research*. London: SAGE Publications Ltd.
- Unsihuay-Vila, C. M.-L.-A. (2010). A model to long-term, multiarea, multistage, and integrated expansion planning of electricity and natural gas systems. IEEE Transactions on Power, 25(2), 1154-1168.
- Vonderembse, M. A., & White, G. P. (1996). *Operations Management Concepts, Methods, and Strategies.* Minneapolis/St.Paul : West Publishing Company.
- Wood, D. F. (2002). International Logistics Functions and Intermediaries. In D. F. Wood, International Logistics (Second Edition) (pp. 255-257). AMACOM.
- Yucekaya, A. (2013). Cost Minimizing Coal Logistics for Power Plants Considering Transportation Constraints . Journal of Traffic and Logistics Engineering, Vol, 1, No. 2 , 122-126. DOI: 10.12720/jtle.1.2.122-127.
- Zhang, Y. &. (2009). Unstructured interviews. In W. B.M., *Applications of social research methods* to questions in information and library science (Second Edition) (pp. 222-231). Libraries Unlimited.

Appendices

Appendix 1. Title of the Appendix